I. INTRODUCTION 

In a published case described by a leading commentator on 

insurance law as "probably the most significant insurance opinion [ever] 

issued by Division I,"1 the Court of Appeals has sharply circumscribed the 

long-standing rule that "the duty to defend is triggered if the insurance 

policy conceivably covers the allegations in the complaint,"2 by issuing an 

opinion that fails to compare the facts alleged in a complaint to the policy 

coverage, holds that exclusions to coverage may be "implied" by a 

complaint, and "liberally" construes the complaint to deny coverage. 

Grange v. Roberts represents a sea change in the orientation of 

insurance coverage law. For the reasons set forth here, the case should be 

reviewed by the Supreme Court. 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners Elizabeth "'Jane" and Wesley Roberts ask this Court to 

accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review 

designated in Part II. 

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Roberts seek review of the Opinion dated October 28, 2013, in 

Grange Insurance Association v. Elizabeth and Wesley Roberts, No. 

1 See, Motion to Publish, William Hickman, p. 3, filed November 12,2013 (emphasis 
added). 

2 Woo v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co., 161 Wn.2d 43, 53, 164 P.3d 454 (2007) 



69356-5-1, Division One. See, Appendix A. The Opinion was published 

on March 6, 2014. See, Appendix B. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l), this Court should grant review on the 

following issues: 

A. Whether an insurer's duty to defend is triggered by the 

factual allegations in a complaint against an insured or by the causes of 

action directly asserted by the underlying plaintiff(s). 

B. Whether facts may be "implied'' from the face of a 

complaint in order to relieve an insurer from its duty to defend. 

C. Whether a complaint against an insured should be 

construed "liberally" in order to deny coverage. 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. THE BRANDIS COMPLAINT 

In 2008, Petitioner Jane Roberts' siblings, Brandis3 et. al. (herein, 

"Brandis") brought suit against the Roberts for a variety of allegations 

relating to Jane's interactions with their mother, Elizabeth Wiggins, in the 

last years of Elizabeth s life. CP 56-64, 272-280; Superior Court, County 

of Snohomish, No. 08-4-00999-3. The Brandis allege, inter alia, that: 

Jane actively interfered with the relationship between 

3The plaintiffs in the underlying are: Rebecca Brandis, Suella Hershaw, Myra Converse, 
Myrna Seifert and Robert Wiggins. Another sibling is not a party. 
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Elizabeth and her family and friends, including her other 
children. Jane made false statements about, and 
"badmouthed" those other parties in order to 
intentionally interfere with their relationships. Jane· s 
behavior towards the other family members, including 
making false accusations regarding prior child abuse 
claims, went beyond the bounds of decency, atrocious and 
intolerable [sic]. The family and friends experienced 
extreme emotional distress as a result of Jane's 
interferences with their relationships with Elizabeth, which 
were adversely affected. CP 275. 

The Roberts deny the5e allegations, as well as all of the other allegations 

in the underlying Complaint. The Brandis case has not yet been tried. 

B. THE INSURANCE POLICY 

The Roberts are insured by Grange under a "FarmPak" Policy, No. 

FPO I 0 I 0054 (the "Policy"). CP 23 I, CP 77-186. Grange agreed to 

defend the Roberts against claims for damages resulting from "Personal 

and advertising injury,'' under Coverage I. CP 170-186. This term 

includes slander, libel, and invasion of privacy, among other offenses: 

SECTION V- DEFINITIONS 

18. "Personal and advertising InJury means InJury, 
including consequential bodily injury, arising out of one or 
more of the following offenses: ... 

d. Oral or written publication, in any manner, of 
material that slanders or libels a person or 
organization or disparages a person's or organization's 
goods, products or services: 

e. Oral or written publication, in any manner, of 
material that violates a person's right of privacy; ... 

3 



CP 185. [emph. added]. The "Personal and advertising injury" coverage 

and the applicable exclusions are set forth at CP 176-177: 

COVERAGE I - PERSONAL AND ADVERTISING 
INJURY LIABILITY 

I. Insuring Agreement 

a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes 
legally obligated to pay as damages because of personal 
and advertising injury to which this insurance applies. 
We will have the right and duty to defend the insured 
against any suit seeking those damages. However, we 
will have no duty to defend the insured against any suit 
seeking damages for personal or advertising injury to 
which this insurance does not apply. 

2. Exclusions 

This insurance does not apply to personal and advertising 
injury: 

a. Knowing Violation Of Rights Of Another 

Caused by or at the direction of an insured with the 
knowledge that the act would violate the rights of 
another and would inflict personal and advertising 
injury. 

b. Material Published With Knowledge Of Falsity 

Arising out of oral or written publication of material, if 
done by or at the direction of the insured with 
knowledge of its falsity . ... [emphases added] 

C. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In 20 I 0, the Roberts tendered the Brandis complaint to Grange for 

defense and indemnification. While providing a defense through 

insurance counsel, Gnnge filed an action for Declaratory Judgment. CP 

264-270. The Roberts answered and counterclaimed for damages caused 

4 



by bad faith and for reasonable attorney fees. CP 245-251. 

Grange subsequently brought a Motion for Summary Judgment 

seeking judgment declaring, as a matter of law, that the Brandis complaint 

does not trigger coverage. CP 229-244. The Roberts opposed Grange's 

motion and brought a cross-motion seeking a stay pending the resolution 

ofthe underlying litigation. CP 35 - 52. 

In 2011, the trial court ruled that Grange has no duty to indemnify 

or defend the Roberts in the Brandis matter. CP 15-16. In 2012, the trial 

court dismissed the Roberts' counterclaim. CP 13-14. Roberts' appeal to 

Division I timely followed. See Comm'r Ruling, December 28, 2012. 

Brandis v. Roberts has not yet been tried and is currently set for 

trial in March of2015. The Roberts now are paying for their own defense. 

D. THE COURT OF APPEALS' OPINION 

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. 

Notwithstanding the allegations that Jane made "false accusations 

regarding prior child abuse claims,'' "false statements about," and 

"'badmouthed''' the plaintiffs, causing the plaintiffs emotional distress and 

interfering with their relationships, the Opinion holds that the complaint 

does not trigger a duty to defend under the personal and advertising injury 

(libel and slander) coverage of the Grange policy. It questions whether the 

complaint states a claim for defamation, even for the purposes of 

triggering the insurer's duty to defend. Op., fn. 9. 

5 



While paying lip service to the rule articulated in Woo v. 

Fireman's Fund Insurance Co., 161 Wn.2d 43, 53, 164 P.3d 454 (2007) 

that "the duty to defend is triggered if the insurance policy conceivably 

covers the allegations in the complaint, the Opinion undermines the 

principle by reading the complaint "liberally" in favor of the insurer. It 

instructs that a fact (''knowledge of falsity") which activates a policy 

exclusion may be "implied" by a complaint's allegations of intentional 

conduct. Op., p. 28. The decision denies the Roberts their insurance 

defense even though the complaint alleges facts that expose them to 

liability for negligent defamation and false light, covered offenses. 

On November 15, 2013, non-parties William Hickman, Geoffrey 

Bedell, and Susannah Sharp moved to have the Opinion published because 

the case determines unsettled or new questions of law, and modifies, 

clarifies, or reverses an established principle of law. Mr. Bedell and Ms. 

Sharp are attorneys who counsel insurance companies.4 Mr. Hickman, the 

editor of the Washington Insurance Law Letter, opined: 

The opinion is probably the most significant insurance 
opinion issued by Division I since the court began 
issuing opinions in September 1969.5 

The Court of Appeals granted their motions to publish on March 6, 2014. 

The Roberts seek review primarily on the issues relating to the 

4 See. Motion to Publish, p. 2, filed November 14,2013. 
5 See. Motion to Publish, p 3, filed November 12,2013 (emphasis added). 
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denial of an insurance defense where the complaint exposes them to 

liability for covered offenses: negligent defamation and false light. 

VI. ARGUIVIENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is in Conflict with Woo v. 
Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. Because It Relieves the Insurer 
of the Duty to Defend where the Facts Alleged Potentially 
Expose the Insureds to Liability on a Covered Claim. 

Woo v Fireman's Fund mandates that "[a]n insurer has a duty to 

defend "'when a complaint against the insured, construed liberally, alleges 

facts which could, if proven, impose liability upon the insured within the 

policy's coverage."' Woo, 161 Wn.2d at 52-53.6 Grange's policy 

promises coverage for ''Personal and advertising injury," which 

encompasses "libel" and ''slander.'' CP 185. Thus we arrive at the crux of 

the issue: Did the Court of Appeals contravene Woo by holding that an 

insurer has no duty to defend where its insured is accused of making "false 

statements,'' "false accusations" and "badmouthing''? 

The answer is "yes.'' Under Woo, and the decades of case law 

leading to Woo, the duty to tender a defense is driven by the facts alleged 

in the complaint. Those facts must be construed liberally in favor of 

coverage. The facts alleged in the Brandis complaint "could conceivably" 

6 (Quoting Truck Ins. Exch. v. VanPort Homes. Inc., 147 Wn. 2d 751, 760, 58 P.3d 276 
(2002), in turn quoting Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven, 97 Wn.App. 417,425, 983 P.2d 1155 
(1999)). 
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result in liability for negligent defamation. Woo, 161 Wn.2d at 60 (emph. 

in the original). Thus the duty to defend is triggered. Review should be 

accepted because Grange v. Roberts is in conflict with a decision of this 

Court. RAP 13 .4(b )(I). 

1. By focusing on the causes of action asserted in the 
underlying complaint, the Opinion fails to consider 
whether the facts alleged expose the insureds to liability 
for a covered offense. 

When considering coverage issues, the initial task is to review the 

facts and circumstartces set forth in the complaint against the insured, 

comparing them to the coverage offered by the policy. Kirk v. Mount 

Airy Ins. Co., 134 Wn.2d 558, 561, 951 P.2d 1124 (1998). The Opinion 

revises the analysis by comparing the causes of action asserted by the 

plaintiffs to the policy coverage. Op., p. 28. It thus fails to consider that 

the Brandis have alleged facts that expose the Roberts to potential liability 

for covered offenses under their Grange policy. 

As set forth above, the policy provides coverage for libel and 

slander, collectively referenced as defamation. Black's Law Dictionary, at 

288 (6th ed. 1991 ). A communication is defamatory '"if it tends so to 

harm the reputation of another as to lower him [or her] in the estimation of 

the community or to deter third persons from associating or dealing with 

him [or her]."' Right-Price Recreation, LLC v. Connells Prairie Cmty. 

Council, 146 Wn.2d 370. 382, 46 P.3d 789 (2002)(quoting Restatement 
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(Second) of Torts § 559 ( 1977)). The elements of a claim for defamation 

are: ( 1) falsity, (2) an unprivileged communication, (3) fault, and ( 4) 

damages. Mohr v. Grant, 153 Wn.2d 812, 822, 108 P.3d 768 (2005). 

By contending that Jane "badmouthed'' them, "made false 

statements" about them, including "false accusations regarding prior child 

abuse claims," the plaintiffs have flatly asserted that Jane's statements 

were (1) false. CP 275. An allegation of child abuse (or that someone 

made false child abuse claims) is defamatory because it is unquestionably 

harmful to the reputation of the person so charged. The alleged statements 

are (2) unprivileged communications because, by obvious inference, the 

"false statements" were published by Jane to the plaintiffs' mother, 

Elizabeth. CP 275. The next element, (3) fault, is alleged because Jane 

intended to interfere with the plaintiffs' relationships. Finally, (4) 

damages are alleged: The plaintiffs claim "emotional distress" and assert 

that their relationships with their mother were "adversely affected.'' CP 

275. The complaint, therefore, alleges all of the elements of defamation.7 

Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Starplex Corp., 220 Ore.App. 560, 188 

P.3d 332 (Or. Ct. App. 2008), rev. den 'd 345 Ore. 417 (2008) considers a 

similar scenario. In Starplex, the underlying complaints alleged the 

7 Similarly, the Brandis complaint can be reasonably read to support a claim for false
light invasion of privacy, another covered claim under Coverage I. Eastwood v. Cascade 
Broad Co., 106 Wn.2d 466, 470-471, 722 P.2d 1295 (1986) (False light established 
where the publication is "highly offensive" and the defendant knew or recklessly 
disregarded the falsity.) 
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insured party used racial epithets in order to "intentionally interfere with 

the plaintiffs' business relations." !d., at 566. As with the Roberts' policy, 

personal injury coverage was promised for slander and libel. !d., at 581. 

Like Grange, the insurer contended that it need not defend because the 

complaints did not assert a claim for defamation. The court compared the 

underlying complaints to the relevant policy provision. !d. at 584-585. 

Applying Oregon law (which is virtually identical to that of Washington), 

Starplex holds that the duty to defend was triggered because "there were 

sufficient allegations in the []plaintiffs' complaints that, reasonably 

interpreted, possibly gave rise to coverage ... specifically, coverage of 

defamation claims." !d., at 585. 

Rather than undertaking a close examination of the complaint and 

the coverage as in Starplex, Grange v. Roberts "question[ s] whether 

Brandis's complaint adequately states a claim for defamation." Op., fn. 9. 

The Court of Appeals' "question" in itself betrays the error of its logic. 

The duty to defend is only avoided where there is "no conceivable" 

coverage of the plaintiffs' claims. Campbell v. Ticor Title Ins. Co., 166 

Wn.2d 466, 475 20Q P.3d 859 (2009). Having "conceived'' that a 

defamation claim may be at play, the Opinion wipes out coverage with a 

. • . 8 
cttat10n to a non-msurance coverage case. 

8 The Opinion cites Ralph v. Dep't of Natural Res., 171 Wn. App. 262, 286 P.3d 992 
(2012), review granted, 176 Wn.2d 1024,301 P.3d 1047 (2013), for the proposition that 
that "[t]he nature of a claim for relief is determined by the facts alleged in the complaint 

10 



Washington law and policy weights the interpretation of a 

complaint heavily in favor of the policyholder. This is because, under 

modern rules of pleading, even an artless, truncated, or ambiguous 

complaint is sufficient to force the defendant to defend herself, possibly all 

the way to trial.9 As Woo forcefully states: 

Notice pleading rules, which require only a short and plain 
statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled 
to relief, impose a significant burden on the insurer to 
determine if there are any facts in the pleadings that could 
conceivably give rise to a duty to defend. 

Woo, 161 Wn.2d at 53-54 (citing Hanson, 26 Wn. App. at 294). The 

Opinion errs by holding that an insurer is not obligated to defend a 

complaint simply because the plaintiff failed to invoke magic words such 

as "negligence'' or "defamation." The Court of Appeals' logical thrust 

turns the clock back to the days of code pleading, a reversion that has been 

and as adduced thereunder, and by the relief requested." Ralph is a jurisdiction case, not 
an insurance coverage matter. The language cited does not undermine the contention that 
the Brandis complaint asserts defamation. The Brandis allege "false statements," "false 
accusations," etc. They seek monetary damages for the resulting emotional distress, relief 
which is consistent with a cause of action for defamation/false light. Cf Silver Surorize 
v. Sunshine Mining Co., 74 Wn.2d 519, 522, 445 P.2d 334 ( 1968). 

9 CR 8 requires only "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is 
entitled to relief" "Under our new rules we no longer are concerned with whether a 
cause of action is stated but whether there is a statement of the claim showing that the 
pleader is entitled to relief" Scharfv. Harstad, 61 Wn.2d 188, 192, 377 P.2d 416 ( 1963). 
Dismissal for failure to state a claim, CR 12, may be granted only if "'it appears beyond 
doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with the complaint, which 
would entitle the plaintiff to relief."' Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 
Wn.2d 107, 120,744 P.2d 1032 (1987) (quoting Bowman v. John Doe, 104 Wn.2d 181, 
183, 704 P.2d 140 ( 1985); see also Orwick v. Seattle, 103 Wn.2d 249, 254, 692 P.2d 793 
(1984). 
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rejected since Hanson was decided over thirty years ago. 10 

Woo's emphasis on the potential for liability is underscored by the 

problems now facing the Roberts. While the Opinion suggests that the 

Brandis plaintiffs ha'!e not pleaded defamation, Brandis will not be 

bound by that holding in the underlying case. 11 Pursuant to CR 8 or 15, 

for example, the trial court may yet rule that Brandis can present a claim 

for negligent defamation. In this scenario, the insureds have not only been 

denied a defense, they prematurely have been stripped of indemnification. 

And after the Roberts have impoverished themselves paying for their 

defense, Brandis may not be able to collect on a favorable judgment. It is 

10 Consider the discussion ;n Babcock & Wilcox Co. v. Parsons Corp., 430 F .2d 531, 536 
(8thCir.l970): 

It of course follows thal "notice" pleading permitted under the federal rules makes 
difficult application of the principle that the insurer's duty to defend is to be 
determined by the plaintiffs complaint -- a doctrine which was developed when 
pleadings were considerably more specific. This problem has not gone unnoticed by 
the courts and commentators. . .. However, our research indicate~ that the courts 
have generally placed the burden of uncertainty as to the policy's coverage on the 
insurer. Where the allegations of plaintiffs complaint, albeit ambiguous, state a 
claim which is potentially or arguably within the policy's coverage, the insurer must 
accept defense ofthe claim. [multiple citations omitted] 

11 Collateral estoppel will not be a bar because it requires that the issue decided in the 
prior adjudication be identical to the one presented in the action in question. Rains v. 
State, 100 Wn.2d 660, 665, 674 P.2d 165 ( 1983). Because the Court of Appeals has 
merely "questioned" whether the Brandis have brought a defamation claim, Op., fn. 9, res 
judicata will not apply (among other reasons) because the doctrine's concept of finality 
only encompasses judgments that are "not tentative, provisional, or contingent." Ensley 
v. Pitcher, 152 Wn. App. 891, 900, 222 P.3d 99 (Div. I, 2009) (citing Restatement 
(Second) of Judgments § 13 ( 1982). 
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small wonder that insurance industry attorneys sought publication of the 

Opinion. 

Whether or not a plaintiff directly alleges a particular cause of 

action, the insurer must defend "ifthere is any reasonable interpretation of 

the facts or the law that could result in coverage." Am. Best Food, Inc. v. 

A lea London, Ltd., 168 Wn.2d 398, 405, 229 P.3d 693 (20 I 0). The 

Brandis complaint adequately pleads a covered offense under the 

"Personal and advertising injury" provision ofthe policy. The next step in 

the analysis, discussed below, is whether or not any exclusion applies. 

2. The Opinion incorrectly holds that exclusions to 
coverage may be "implied" by the complaint against the 
insurea. 

As even the Court of Appeals concedes, liability for slander and 

libel may sound in negligence where, as here, only private figures are 

involved. Op., pp. 26 - 27. However, by adopting the plaintiffs' 

underlying theory of intentionality (that Jane acted "intentionally [to] 

interfere with relationships") the Opinion sloppily concludes that the 

defamation alleged by the plaintiffs is not covered. 

The Opinion first contends that coverage is unavailable because 

the policy excludes damages "[c]aused by or at the direction ofthe insured 

with the knowledge that the act would violate the rights of another and 

would inflict personal and advertising injury.'' Op., pp. 27-28 (emphasis 

added). According to the Court of Appeals, this exclusion is triggered 

13 



because the complaint "solely refers to intentional, deliberate conduct." 

Op., p. 28. However, while the Brandis complaint indeed references 

intentional infliction of injury to relationships, the policy exclusion 

requires knowledge that the act would inflict "personal and advertising 

injury," defined as "slander'' or "libel." CP 177. The exclusion does not 

apply because even if Jane knew that her comments would inflict injury, 

there is no allegation that she knew that her comments were false. 

Because falsity is an essential element of defamation, Mohr, 153 Wn.2d at 

822, knowledge of falsity is required to apply the exclusion. 

Application of the second exclusion cited by the Court of Appeals, 

"Material Published With Knowledge of Falsity,'' also requires that a 

statement be made with knowledge of falsity. Again, there is no 

allegation by Brandis that Jane knew that what she said was false. 

For example, were it established that Jane told her mother that "Your other 

children are looking to put you into a nursing home," her siblings might 

prove her report to be false, but still be unable to establish that Jane knew 

it was false. The complaint therefore asserts factual allegations exposing 

the Roberts to liability for negligent defamation and/or false light. 

To date, Washington law has required that exclusions be "strictly 

construed against the insurer.'' Phil Schroeder v. Royal Globe Ins. Co., 99 

Wn.2d 65, 68, 659 P.2d 509 (1983). The Opinion, however, announces 

that Jane's knowledge of the falsity of her statements "may be implied'' 

14 



from a complaint. Op., p. 28. To support this holding, the Court cites to 

the Dissent in Margoles v. Hubbart, Ill Wn.2d 195, 760 P.2d 324 (1988). 

But Margoles is not an insurance coverage case, and it does not involve 

the construction of a complaint. Rather, it involves the single issue of 

whether the trial court erred by dismissing a defamation case brought by a 

public official against a newspaper on summary judgment. Margoles, 111 

Wn.2d at 196. 12 Margoles is irrelevant to the question of whether or not a 

complaint alleging defamation (in the context of non-public figures, no 

less) triggers insurance coverage. 

Just as an insured may not rely on a plaintiffs characterization of

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