90199-6

RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
May 07, 2014, 11:43 am  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

No. 69356-5-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

---

GRANGE INSURANCE ASSOCIATION,

Respondent,

v.

ELIZABETH and WESLEY ROBERTS

Appellants.

---

GRANGE INSURANCE ASSOCIATION'S  
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP  
Attorneys for Respondents

MICHAEL E. RICKETTS, WSBA NO. 9387  
MICHELLE A. MENELY, WSBA No. 28353

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL  
600 University Street, Suite 2100  
Seattle, WA 98101  
(206)676-7600  
[mmenely@gth-law.com](mailto:mmenely@gth-law.com)

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The first paragraph of the Opinion succinctly sets forth the unremarkable result in this case, providing in part:

The policy imposes on Grange a duty to defend its insureds but excludes intentional conduct from the duty to defend. Rebecca Brandis sued Roberts, alleging various torts stemming from Roberts's intentional conduct. The trial

court ruled in a declaratory judgment action that Grange owed Roberts no duty to defend against the Brandis complaint. Because Roberts's insurance policy provides no conceivable coverage for the allegations in the Brandis complaint, the trial court properly granted declaratory judgment in Grange's favor.

*Opinion*, 320 P.3d at 81–82. This conclusion was not based on any new or unsettled principle of law, or one that lacks clarity. To the contrary, the *Opinion* simply represents the application of the long-standing principle of Washington law that the existence of a duty to defend is determined by comparing the applicable policy language with the allegations of a given complaint.

The Roberts make far more of this scenario, finding error in their mischaracterization of the *Opinion*, rather than the *Opinion* itself. But the underlying Brandis complaint does not merely “imply” the absence of accidental conduct; it flatly alleges that Jane Roberts made certain statements “*in order to so intentionally interfere with*” relationships. CP 275 (emphasis added). And, while the Court of Appeals did question whether the Brandis complaint stated a claim for defamation at all,<sup>1</sup> the court did so rhetorically, in a footnote, before

---

<sup>1</sup> As Division I observed, “Brandis’s request for relief mentions no defamation claim and requests no judgment for damages based on such a claim.” *Opinion*, 320 P.3d at 93 n.9.

thoroughly analyzing whether the policy conceivably covered the alleged conduct under the Roberts' defamation theory. The Roberts' mischaracterization of dicta<sup>2</sup> from a footnote as the basis for the Opinion is telling.

Far from being in conflict with *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co.*, 161 Wn.2d 43, 53, 164 P.3d 454 (2007)—a decision that begins its analysis by observing that “[t]he rule regarding the duty to defend *is well settled in Washington*,” *id.* at 52 (emphasis added)—the Opinion faithfully adheres to *Woo*. See, e.g., *Opinion*, 320 P.3d at 85–86 (quoting *Woo*'s summary of the law governing an insurer's duty to defend). The mere application of settled law to a particular fact pattern does not demand Supreme Court review.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> “Dicta” is language in an opinion that was not necessary to the decision in the case. *Pedersen v. Klinkert*, 56 Wn.2d 313, 317, 352 P.2d 1025 (1960).

<sup>3</sup> The Roberts rely heavily on a hyperbolic statement in non-party Hickman's motion to publish the Opinion. See Petition for Review at 1, 6. But closer review of that motion reveals that none of the factors cited in favor of publication (which presents a lower bar under RAP 12.3 than does review here under RAP 13.4) is particularly novel. For instance, Mr. Hickman notes that the Opinion “[c]oncluded that acting with knowledge that a particular result would occur is not an accident” and “[f]ound no duty to defend a claim of emotional distress if no bodily injury alleged.” Motion to Publish at 2. Neither principle is new or unclear. Mr. Hickman also states that the Opinion “sets out an analysis of duty to defend outrage and defamation claims” and “appl[ies] *A/ea* analysis.” *Id.* If the recitation of and reliance upon prior case law in this

**A. The Court of Appeals merely applied well-settled insurance coverage law to a complaint alleging intentional conduct.**

Because the Court of Appeals did not reach their desired outcome, the Roberts presume that the court must have liberally construed the policy in favor of the insurer. But it is the Roberts who strain to find a claim of negligent defamation in a complaint that makes no such allegation.

The portion of the policy providing liability coverage for defamation expressly excludes coverage if the defamatory statements were made with (1) knowledge of their falsity or (2) knowledge that they would violate the rights of another. CP 177. The Roberts essentially argue that the exclusions to coverage do not apply because defamation *can* be committed negligently. But as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, whether defamation can be committed negligently is not the issue. Instead, the issue is what was alleged in the underlying complaint.

First, the “material published with knowledge of falsity” exclusion applies because the Brandis plaintiffs specifically averred that Jane made “false statements” for the specific purpose of

---

manner satisfied RAP 13.4, virtually every decision of the Court of Appeals would qualify for review by the Supreme Court.

interfering with their relationship with their mother. CP 59. The plaintiffs did not allege that Jane carelessly made statements that may or may not have been true. Instead the allegation was very specific—Jane made the “false statements . . . in order to so intentionally interfere with their relationships.” *Id.*

Second, the Brandis plaintiffs specifically alleged that Jane made the false statements knowing that she would be violating the rights of her siblings. The complaint specifically states that Jane “made false statements” in order to achieve a certain result—to interfere with her siblings’ relationship with their mother and their inheritance rights. Thus, even if the Brandis plaintiffs did not allege that Jane knew of the falsity of her statements (something Grange disputes), they do allege that Jane made those statements knowing that she would be interfering with her siblings’ relationship with their mother. The claims thus are still excluded under the exclusion for knowingly violating the rights of another.

Even now, the Roberts acknowledge that the “fault” element of any supposed defamation claim by the Brandis plaintiffs could only be satisfied based on the complaint “because Jane intended to interfere with the plaintiffs’ relationships.” Petition for Review at 9. But such proof would necessarily mean that the exclusions to coverage applied.

There can be no duty to defend because “in the absence of coverage, there can be no potential for coverage.” *W. Nat’l Assurance Co. v. Hecker*, 43 Wn. App. 816, 826–27, 719 P.2d 954 (1986).

“Even our liberal rules of pleading require a complaint to contain direct allegations sufficient to give notice to the court and the opponent of the nature of the plaintiff’s claim.” *Berge v. Gorton*, 88 Wn.2d 756, 762, 567 P.2d 187 (1977).<sup>4</sup> While “the duty to defend is triggered if the insurance policy *conceivably* covers the allegations in the complaint,” *Woo*, 161 Wn.2d at 53 (emphasis added), Washington law does not permit an insured to recharacterize the claims against it to attempt to trigger coverage where it does not otherwise exist. An insurer is properly relieved of its duty to defend where “the *claim* alleged in the complaint is clearly not covered by the policy.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added)).

Here, any way one looks at it, the Brandis complaint does not allege negligent defamation. To find otherwise would beg simple questions that the Roberts are *still* unable to answer: How does one accidentally make false statements “*in order to so intentionally*

---

<sup>4</sup> The Roberts argue that the Opinion would require plaintiffs to invoke “magic words” to trigger the duty to defend. Petition for Review at 11. No one has said this. The Opinion merely confirms the longstanding principle that a complaint that cannot conceivably result in a covered liability does not trigger the duty to defend.



*interfere*” with relationships? How does one “actively” but at the same time “accidentally” “interfere with” a relationship? The answer to both questions, of course, is that one cannot.<sup>5</sup> An individual must act with knowledge and intent to carry out the scheme alleged in the Brandis complaint. The Grange policy expressly excludes coverage for knowing and intentional conduct.

**B. The Roberts mischaracterize the Court of Appeals’ opinion in several respects.**

Given the Court of Appeals’ straightforward analysis, the Roberts mischaracterize the Opinion at several points. These straw men are erected to create the illusion of error where none exists.

For instance, as noted above, the Roberts seize upon a footnote to suggest that the court’s aside was actually the basis for its decision. Petition for Review at 10. It was not. Moreover, within that footnote the court cited *Ralph v. Department of Natural Resources*, 171 Wn. App. 262, 286 P.3d 992 (2012) for the unremarkable proposition that courts determine the nature of a claim by looking at the alleged facts and the requested relief. *Opinion*, 320 P.3d at 93 n.9. This was the first and only time that the Opinion cites *Ralph*. Yet the Roberts now go

---

<sup>5</sup> Despite taking issue with “magic words,” the Roberts assert just three pages later that the exclusions for intentional and knowing conduct do not apply because “there is no allegation that [Jane] knew that her comments were false.” *Id.* at 14.

so far as to say that “the Opinion wipes out coverage with a citation to [Ralph,] a non-insurance coverage case.” Petition for Review at 10; see also *id.* at 10 n.8. Such overstatement belies the existence of a meritorious basis for review.

In similarly hyperbolic fashion, the Roberts write: “The *Opinion* suggests that the insurer, and courts reviewing insurance policies, may look beyond the allegations of a complaint to apply exclusions even where coverage is available based on the face of the complaint.” *Id.* at 16. Again, the Opinion does no such thing. The Roberts never explain how the Court of Appeals supposedly looked beyond of the face of the complaint. Indeed, the court’s analysis was tightly confined to the language of the complaint and the policy. *E.g., Opinion*, 320 P.3d at 94 (“The complaint alleged more than merely false statements. It alleged that Roberts made false statements for a specific tortious purpose.”).

The Roberts also imply that the Court of Appeals ignored an Oregon decision, *National Union Fire Insurance Co. of Pittsburgh Pennsylvania v. Starplex Corp.*, 220 Ore.App. 560, 188 P.3d 332 (Or. Ct. App. 2008). Petition for Review at 10 (“Rather than undertaking a close examination of the complaint and the coverage as in *Starplex* . . .”). The Roberts fail to inform this Court that their Petition is

the first time they have ever mentioned *Starplex*. See Br. of Appellant, Table of Authorities; Reply Br. of Appellant, Table of Authorities.

In any event, *Starplex* is readily distinguishable. Unlike the Grange policy at issue here, the policies in *Starplex* did not contain exclusions for intentional conduct and the Oregon court never analyzed any exclusion for intentional conduct. See *Starplex*, 220 Ore.App. at 578 n.4 (noting in context of indemnity agreement analysis that the parties “do not argue that intentional [as opposed to negligent] conduct must be addressed in a different way”). Moreover, the elements of a defamation claim are quite different between Washington and Oregon. Relevant here, in Oregon, unlike Washington, defamation does not require a showing of “fault”—that is, knowledge that a statement was false or would create a false impression. Compare *Starplex*, 220 Or.App. at 584 (setting out three elements of defamation in Oregon) with *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 197, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989) (setting out four elements of defamation and addressing fault element). Reliance on *Starplex* is of little utility in this case, which is presumably why the Roberts have not cited it until now.

**C. The remaining errors claimed by the Roberts also are devoid of merit.**

The secondary assertions of error involve similar mischaracterizations of the Opinion and are equally meritless. See Petition for Review at 18-20.

(1) The Court of Appeals properly exercised its discretion not to address arguments regarding the Roberts' bad faith counterclaim, raised for the first time on appeal. *Opinion*, 320 P.3d at 97. As the court observed, under the invited error doctrine, "Roberts cannot complain that the trial court dismissed the counterclaim for the 'wrong reason' when she (1) affirmatively asked the court to dismiss the claim rather than keep it open and (2) failed to argue the merits of the claim when prompted by the court." *Id.*; see also *id.*, at 97 n.12 (explaining why *Lavigne v. Chase, Haskell, Hayes, & Kalamon, P.S.*, 112 Wn. App. 677, 50 P.3d 306 (2002) does not apply).

(2) The Opinion does not conclude that bodily injury coverage is unavailable where an insured may not have intended the injuries suffered by the plaintiff. It concludes that where an underlying complaint alleges that the injuries were intended, a policy exclusion for intentional conduct governs.

The Opinion also does not "limit[] *Woo's* analysis [to] policies which define "accident" identically to the definition in Dr. *Woo's* policy."

*Id.* Every insurance coverage decision requires analysis of the relevant policy language. The Opinion merely observed that the Roberts' attempts to rely upon *Woo* were misplaced, given the specific definition of "accident" found in the policy there at issue, in contrast to how that term is defined at common law. *Opinion*, 86–87. The common law jurisprudence on this point is ample. The fact that the Roberts attempted to disregard it here, to no avail, does not mean there was a significant issue requiring clarification.

(3) The Opinion likewise, does not conflict with *Woo* or *American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 229 P.3d 693 (2010)) with respect to coverage for what the Roberts characterize as "untested torts." *See Opinion*, 320 P.3d at 89–93. The Opinion instead is but another example of the unremarkable proposition set forth in *Alea*, that "when Washington authority is silent regarding a particular claim or cause of action, courts may consider persuasive authority when determining an insurer's duty to defend." *Id.* at 91–92. The Roberts' interference claims are just existing claims by different names. To the extent they have been recognized in other jurisdictions, they have *uniformly* been interpreted to require intentional conduct. The Roberts cannot claim that "uncertainty" in the law triggers coverage where they themselves concede that "perhaps

all[] jurisdictions” require intentional conduct to establish the claimed interference torts. *See id.* at 92.